COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

between

International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers Transportation District Lodge No. 140

(hereinafter termed the "Employer")



-and-

MoveUP

(CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION LOCAL 378)

(hereinafter termed the "Union")



Term: January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2019

TABLE of CONTENTS

Page

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 — PURPOSE	3
ARTICLE 2 — BARGAINING UNIT AND RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 3 — UNION SECURITY	
ARTICLE 4 — THE RIGHTS OF THE EMPLOYER	5
ARTICLE 5 — DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES	5
ARTICLE 6 — UNION REPRESENTATION	
ARTICLE 7 — HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	8
ARTICLE 8 — STATUTORY HOLIDAYS	10
ARTICLE 9 — ANNUAL VACATIONS	10
ARTICLE 10 — LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 11 — SICK LEAVE, WELFARE PLANS AND PENSION PLAN	
ARTICLE 12 – WAGES	
ARTICLE 13 – SENIORITY	18
ARTICLE 14 – JOB POSTINGS, PROMOTION, LAYOFF AND RECALL	19
ARTICLE 15 – GENERAL	
ARTICLE 16 – DISCHARGE AND TERMINATION	
ARTICLE 17 – TECHNOLOGICAL OR PROCEDURAL CHANGES AND SEVERANCE PAY	23
ARTICLE 18 – GRIEVANCES	
ARTICLE 19 – SINGLE ARBITRATOR	
ARTICLE 20 – SEXUAL AND/OR PERSONAL HARASSMENT IN THE WORKPLACE	26
ARTICLE 21 – HEALTH AND SAFETY	
ARTICLE 22 – JOB SHARE	
ARTICLE 23 – DURATION	
APPENDIX "A"	
CATEGORIES, CLASSIFICATIONS AND SALARIES	32
APPENDIX "A"	
CATEGORIES, CLASSIFICATIONS AND SALARIES	33
APPENDIX "B"	35
JOB DESCRIPTIONS	35
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 1	
Employees employed outside British Columbia	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 2	39
Current Employee Wage Retention	39
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 3	40
Article 7 – Hours of Work and Overtime	40
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 4	41
December Holiday Season Office Closure	41
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 5	
Student Employees	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 6	43
Lump Sum Payment	43

ARTICLE 1 — PURPOSE

- 1.01 The purpose of this Agreement is to maintain a harmonious relationship between the Employer and its employees; to define clearly the hours of work, rates of pay and conditions of employment; to provide for an amicable method of settling differences which may arise from time to time and to promote the mutual interest of the Employer and its employees; to promote and maintain such conditions of employment.
- 1.02 For the purpose of clarification, it is understood that wherever the singular or feminine is used in this Agreement the same shall be construed as meaning the plural or masculine unless the context or Parties require otherwise.
- 1.03 The Parties hereto subscribe to the principles of the Human Rights Code of British Columbia and any other applicable Human Rights codes of any and all other applicable provinces, and/or Federal Human Rights Codes.

ARTICLE 2 — BARGAINING UNIT AND RECOGNITION

- 2.01 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole bargaining authority for all employees in its offices within the jurisdiction of MoveUP (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378), and within the classification of office and clerical workers listed in Appendix "A" or within such new classifications as may from time to time be agreed and established by the Parties. It is expressly agreed that this Agreement shall not apply to any elected or appointed officer, business agent or representative of the Employer.
- 2.02 All members shall be required to use their Union Label.
- 2.03 The Union Label shall be made available to the Employer. The privilege of using the Union Label shall be extended to the Employer as long as this Agreement remains in full force and effect and the Employer is fulfilling all of its terms and conditions. The Union Label shall be the official Union Label of the Union. The Union label shall remain the sole property of the Union.
- 2.04 The employees shall not be asked to make any written statement or verbal contract which may conflict with this Agreement.
- 2.05 It shall not be a violation of this Agreement or cause for discharge of any employee, in the performance of her duties, to refuse to cross a legal picket line. The Union shall notify the Employer as soon as possible of the existence of such recognized picket lines.
- 2.06 The Employer shall not discharge, discipline or otherwise discriminate against any member of the Union for participation in or for action on behalf of the Union, or for the exercise of rights provided by this Agreement.
- 2.07 During the life of this Agreement, there shall be no lockout by the Employer or any strike, sit-down, slow-down, work stoppage or suspension of work either complete or partial for any reason by the Union.

ARTICLE 3 — UNION SECURITY

- 3.01 The Employer agrees that all employees shall maintain Union membership in <u>MoveUP</u> (Canadian Office and Professional Employees Union, Local 378) as a condition of employment.
- 3.02 When office workers are required, current paid-up members of the Union will be hired. Such requests are to be directed through the Union office. Should office workers who are Union members not be available, the Employer may obtain office workers elsewhere, it being understood that the employee will join the Union within fifteen (15) days and remain a member of the Union in good standing, as a condition of continuing employment. The Employer agrees to advise the Union office when requiring the Union to supply competent office workers. The Employer shall have the sole discretion in filling a vacancy, whether or not the applicant is a member of the Union.
- 3.03 Upon written notice from the Union that an employee fails to maintain membership in the Union by refusing to pay dues or assessments, the Employer agrees to terminate employment of said employee after seven (7) days from the date of notice.
- 3.04 Assignments of Wages and Employee Information

The Employer will honour written assignments of wages for Union dues, initiation fees and general membership assessments and shall remit such to the Union monthly together with the following information as to the persons from whose pay such deductions have been made:

- employee id number
- name address
- monthly salary
- amount of dues deducted
- job classification
- employee status
- date of hire
- work location
- telephone number, except where employees have expressly indicated to the Employer that their number is unlisted

In addition to the above the Employer will provide the Union monthly with a list of:

- new hires
- terminations
- promotions
- demotions
- lateral moves
- salary revisions
- address and name changes
- employees on extended leave of absence
- acting pay appointments
- overtime worked

- telephone number changes, except where employees have expressly indicated to the Employer that their number is unlisted
- seniority

Such information shall be supplied by the Employer and in an electronic form mutually acceptable to the parties.

3.05 The Employer agrees to acquaint new employees with the fact that a Union Agreement is in effect and with the conditions of employment set out in the Article dealing with the Union Security.

ARTICLE 4 — THE RIGHTS OF THE EMPLOYER

- 4.01 The Union recognizes the rights of the Employer to hire and promote, and to discipline or discharge any employee for just cause subject to the provisions of this Agreement and the right of the Union or employee to grieve as provided in Articles 18 and 19.
- 4.02 The Union further recognizes the right of the Employer to operate and manage its business in all respects, subject to the provisions of this agreement.
- 4.03 a) The employer reserves the right to supplement and alter from time to time, rules and regulations to be observed by employees; regulations and rules shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of this agreement.
 - b) The Employer agrees to advise the Union in writing of all policies and procedures prior to implementation.

ARTICLE 5 — DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES

5.01 Probationary Period

All new employees, except temporary and casual employees, will be considered probationary for the first ninety (90) days of employment. After ninety (90) days employment, an employee will become regular. A temporary employee transferred to or attaining regular status will not be required to serve a further probationary period beyond the first ninety (90) days of employment. The probationary period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union.

5.02 Regular Full-Time

A regular full-time employee is any person employed on a full-time permanent basis whose duties fall within the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2 of this Agreement and who has completed the probationary period.

5.03 Regular Part-Time

The Employer shall specify the hours of work and the schedule of the hours to be worked, in writing, at the time of hire. The Employer will provide as much notice as possible, and in any event, will provide at minimum one week's notice of any change in

hours of work or schedules. The time frame specified may be altered by mutual agreement between the parties.

A regular part-time employee is any person employed on a continuing basis for less than the normal hours of work or work week, whose duties fall within the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2 and who has completed the probationary period. Regular part-time employees shall be covered by all conditions of this Agreement except as follows:

- a) Sick leave entitlement shall be on a pro rata basis consistent with the time employed.
- b) After three (3) months service, regular part-time employees shall receive statutory holiday pay on a pro rata basis consistent with the number of hours normally worked in weeks not containing a holiday.
- c) Annual vacation entitlement shall be pro-rated in accordance with the actual time worked during the period the vacation was earned and shall be in proportion to the entitlement of a full-time regular employee with the same calendar period of service. Vacation pay shall be as provided in Article 9.
- d) Part-time employees will be guaranteed not less than four (4) hours work on each day that they are scheduled to work.
- e) Any employee not employed for more than twenty (20) hours of work per week will not be entitled to benefits as covered in 11.02, 11.03, 11.05, 11.06, 11.08, 11.10, 11.11 & 11.12 and will receive pay-in-lieu of benefits at the rate of six (6) percent, of gross earnings.
- f) Regular part-time employees will be eligible for the Employee Family Assistance Program (EFAP) if they so choose to pay the benefit premium.
- g) Regular part-time employees will be eligible for the group benefit plan if they choose to pay the benefit premium.

5.04 Temporary

- a) A temporary employee is one so informed by the Employer at the start of employment. Temporary employment shall be for a specified period not exceeding three (3) months' duration except as provided in Article 5.04(b) below, whereupon such employee shall attain regular status. A temporary employee reaching regular status will have rights under this Agreement which are based on length of service for seniority dated from the start of employment.
- b) Temporary employees hired to replace employees on leave of absence under Article 10.01 shall not attain regular status during the duration of their temporary employment. Temporary employees hired under the provisions of Article 10.03 (Pregnancy and Parental Leave) will attain regular status after three (3) months but the severance provisions of Article 14.05 and Article 17.05 will not be applicable.

- c) A temporary employee shall be entitled to a combined Statutory, Annual Holiday Pay and pay in lieu of benefits at a rate of twelve percent (12%) of gross earnings. In addition, the Employer shall pay premium contributions in accordance with Article 11.07.
- d) Temporary employees will be guaranteed not less than four (4) hours work on each day that they are scheduled to work.

5.05 Casual

- a) Casual or extra employees shall be those employees hired for extra or relief work for periods of up to one (1) month. Such employees shall be paid at the rates provided in this Agreement and will be guaranteed not less than four (4) hours work on each day which they are employed.
- b) A casual employee shall be entitled to a combined Statutory, Annual Holiday Pay and pay in lieu of benefits at a rate of twelve percent (12%) of gross earnings. In addition, the Employer shall pay premium contributions in accordance with Article 11.07.
- 5.06 The Employer or his Representative shall make known to the employees their duties and from whom they shall receive instructions as to the policies and procedures of the establishment.

ARTICLE 6 — UNION REPRESENTATION

- 6.01 The Employer shall recognize the Representative(s) selected by the Union for purposes of collective bargaining, Agreement administration and general Union business, as the sole and exclusive Representative(s) of all employees within the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2 of this Agreement.
- 6.02 The Representative(s) of the Union shall have the right to contact the employees at their place of employment on matters respecting the Agreement or its administration. The Union will obtain authorization from the Employer as to an appropriate time for such contact before meeting the employees.
- 6.03 The Employer shall recognize the Job Steward(s) elected or appointed by the Union and shall not discharge, discipline or otherwise discriminate against such Job Steward(s) for carrying out the duties proper to that position.
- 6.04 The Job Steward may, within reason, investigate and process grievances or confer with the Representative(s) of the Union during regular working hours, without loss of pay.
- 6.05 The Employer shall not discharge, discipline or otherwise discriminate against any member of the Union for participation in or for action on behalf of the Union, or for the exercise of rights provided by this Agreement.
- 6.06 Leave of absence may be requested by the Union for an employee to attend to Union business. Where possible, such leave will be granted by the Employer. While on leave the employee will continue to accrue seniority.

6.07 Union Leave

Employees elected or appointed to full time Union positions will be granted leave of absence without pay on request. Time spent with the Union will be considered as service with the Employer and the employee will continue to accrue seniority with the Employer during such period. Employees on such leave will with mutual consent, continue to participate in all Employer welfare plans, provided the Union reimburses the Employer on a monthly basis for the cost of such premiums. Employees on leave to work for the Union, on application to the Employer, will be re-employed by the Employer at a job level equivalent to that which the employee left to work for the Union. The salary of the employee on re-employment will be that salary which the employee would have attained in her/his classification assuming she/he had never left the employment of the Employer.

ARTICLE 7 — HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

7.01 Regular Work Day

A regular work day shall consist of six and one-half (6½) hours between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.

7.02 Regular Work Week

A regular work week shall consist of thirty-two and one-half (32½) hours worked between 7:00 a.m. Monday and 5:00 p.m. Friday.

7.03 Hours of work as provided in Articles 7.01 and 7.02 may be varied subject to mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union.

NOTE: The Employer agrees that any change away from or back to the regular work day and/or regular work week will be implemented only by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union. Such changes could encompass a nine-day fortnight or a four-day work week. Permission will not be unreasonably withheld.

- 7.04 The Employer shall specify the hours of work and the schedule of the hours to be worked, in writing, at the time of hire. The Employer will provide as much notice as possible, and in any event, will provide at minimum one weeks' notice of any change in hours of work or schedules. The time frame specified may be altered by mutual agreement between the Parties.
- 7.05 A one-half (½) hour lunch period will be provided and taken within the two (2) hours in the middle of the regular working day, precise time to be arranged between the Employer and employee.

NOTE: On occasion should an employee request an extended lunch break, this will not be unreasonably denied.

7.06 Two (2) relief periods per day of fifteen (15) minutes each, one (1) in the morning and one (1) in the afternoon, shall be taken without loss of pay.

7.07 Overtime Premiums

All time worked before or after the regularly established working day or as varied by mutual agreement as per Article 7.03, shall be considered as overtime and paid at the rate of two hundred (200%) percent of the employee's pro-rated hourly rate.

- 7.08 All time worked on Saturday, Sunday or on a statutory holiday, as provided in Article 8 or on a day granted in lieu thereof, shall be considered as overtime and paid at the rate of two hundred (200%) percent of the employee's pro-rated hourly rate.
- 7.09 All employees requested to work overtime beyond the regular work day shall be allowed a one-half (½) hour paid meal period at the regular pro-rated hourly rate of pay, provided such overtime is in excess of two (2) hours work. The meal period may be taken before, during or after the overtime work as may be appropriate and mutually agreed.
- 7.10 Employees who are called in during regularly scheduled days off or vacations, or who are called back to work outside the regular working day, other than for regularly scheduled overtime, shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours' pay at the overtime rates, provided the employee reports for such work.
- 7.11 Regularly scheduled overtime shall mean overtime for which at least twenty-four (24) hours' notice has been given. Emergency overtime shall mean overtime for which less than one (1) days' notice is given. Employees requested to work beyond their regular shift with less than twenty-four (24) hours' notice that is emergency overtime, shall work up to four (4) hours under regular overtime provisions. Work beyond the four (4) hour allowable period shall entitle the employee to not less than two (2) hours additional pay at overtime rates. The meal hour allowance in the foregoing Article 7.09, shall be separate and apart from the above premium provisions.
- 7.12 Overtime shall be voluntary. Overtime shall first be offered to the employee who regularly performs the duties, then by seniority to those employees who are qualified and able to perform the duties.
- 7.13 Employees who work overtime may elect to take time off in lieu of overtime pay but such time off must be taken at a time mutually agreed upon with the Employer. The length of time off with pay shall be equal to the straight time equivalent to the overtime earnings.
- 7.14 Paid sick leave or extended sick leave shall not reduce overtime pay earned during a regular work day or work week during which such sick leave occurred.

ARTICLE 8 — STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

8.01 The Employer agrees to provide all regular employees with the following statutory holidays, without loss of pay:

New Year's Day	Family Day	Good Friday
Easter Monday	Victoria Day	Canada Day
BC Day	Labour Day	Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day	Christmas Day	Boxing Day

and any other day that may be stated a legal holiday by the Provincial and/or Federal Government.

Any other holiday recognized by the Employer shall be provided, without loss of pay, to employees working for the Employer. Territorial or Civic Holidays, when declared, shall be provided to the employees working in the said location where the holiday is declared. The Employer further agrees that should one (1) of the above statutory holidays fall on either a Saturday, a Sunday, or an employee's regularly scheduled day off and no other day is proclaimed in lieu thereof, the employee shall receive an additional day or days off, with pay, to be taken the working day preceding the holiday or the working day succeeding the holiday or at a time mutually agreed by the Employer and the employee.

- 8.02 In the event any of the holidays enumerated in the foregoing Article 8.01, occur during the period of an employee's vacation, an additional day's vacation with pay shall be allowed for each holiday so occurring.
- 8.03 For those employees working outside the provincial boundaries of British Columbia please see Letter of Understanding No. 1.
- 8.04 For those employees working within the province of Quebec, the employees will take 'St. John Baptiste Day' in lieu of B.C. Day.

ARTICLE 9 — ANNUAL VACATIONS

9.01

- a) Upon completion of twelve (12) months service, an employee shall be entitled to receive a paid vacation of fifteen (15) working days. Payment for such vacation period shall be at the employee's current wage rate or six (6%) percent of gross earnings for the period in which the vacation was earned, whichever is greater.
- b) Upon completion of six (6) months service in the first year of employment, an employee shall be entitled to receive a paid vacation of five (5) working days which if taken, will be deducted from the total entitlement for that year. Such vacation shall be taken at a time mutually agreed with the Employer.

- 9.02 Each employee who completes five (5) years' service shall receive twenty (20) working days paid vacation. Pay for such vacation shall be at the employee's current wage rate or eight (8%) percent of gross earnings for the period in which vacation was earned, whichever is greater.
- 9.03 For each year of service in excess of five (5) years, each employee shall receive one (1) working day paid vacation, to a maximum of thirty (30) working days.

9.04

Years of Service	Vacation Days	Total Vacation Hours
1-4	15 Days	97.5 Hours
5	20 Days	130 Hours
6	21 Days	136.5 Hours
7	22 Days	143 Hours
8	23 Days	149.5 Hours
9	24 Days	156 Hours
10	25 Days	162.5 Hours
11	26 Days	169 Hours
12	27 Days	175.5 Hours
13	28 Day	182 Hours
14	29 Days	188.5 Hours
15	30 Days	195 Hours

- 9.05 Payment for vacation entitlements outlined in Article 9.03 above shall be:
 - a) 21 and 22 days
 - eight (8%) percent of gross earnings or current wage rate, whichever is greater.
 - b) 23 to 27 days inclusive
 - ten (10%) percent of gross earnings or current wage rate, whichever is greater.
 - c) 28 days and over
 - twelve (12%) percent of gross earnings or current wage rate, whichever is greater.
- 9.06 On December 31st of each year, regular and/or part-time employees shall receive a vacation bonus of two (2%) percent of gross earnings earned in that calendar year. At the Employer's discretion, employees may be allowed to take this bonus in equivalent paid time off. Upon termination an employee shall be paid the vacation bonus on gross earnings for the period from January 1st to termination date.

9.07 Senior employees shall be given preference in the selection of vacation periods. Employees who wish to take their vacation in two (2) or more periods instead of one (1) unbroken period may do so subject to the following:

Employees shall select their vacation periods in order of seniority as defined in this Agreement, however, only one (1) vacation period shall be selected by seniority until all employees in the signing group have had the opportunity to select one (1) vacation period. Subsequently, those employees who have chosen to take their vacation in two (2) or more separate periods shall select the second (2nd) and subsequent period in order of seniority.

9.08 The Employer shall make available a vacation schedule by January 2nd and the employees shall indicate their vacation selection by March 15th and have such vacation confirmed by March 31st of each year.

9.09 Past Service Credits

All employees re-entering employment with the Employer will receive credit for past service in determining their vacation entitlement after completing two (2) full calendar years after re-entry.

9.10 Effective January 1, 2004 all vacations must be taken within one (1) year of being earned. Requests to carry forward vacation for one additional year will not be unreasonably denied. Vacation accumulated prior to January 1, 2004 shall be paid or used by mutual agreement between the employee and the Employer.

ARTICLE 10 — LEAVE OF ABSENCE

10.01 An employee may apply for, and where possible receive, up to six (6) months unpaid leave of absence for reasons other than sick leave. Permission for such leave must be obtained from the Employer in writing.

An employee who resumes employment on the expiration of this leave of absence shall be reinstated in all respects by the Employer in the position previously occupied by the employee or in a comparable position.

10.02 Bereavement Leave

In cases of death in the immediate family, i.e. husband, wife, common-law spouse (including same sex partner), son, daughter, step-child, father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, sister or brother, brother-in-law or sister-in-law, niece or nephew, or aunt or uncle, grandparents, grandchildren, spouse's grandparents or grandchildren an employee shall be granted up to three (3) working days leave of absence with full pay. Such leave of absence will not be charged against sick leave, holiday entitlement or other accrued time off.

Employees who have to travel out-of-province or overseas or from remote areas may be allowed additional time off with pay for any necessary period of absence not to exceed three (3) working days.

10.03 Pregnancy and Parental Leave

- a) For the purpose of this Article, "spouse" includes common-law wife within the meaning of the Family Relations Act.
- b) Pregnancy and Parental Leave will be granted in accordance with the Employment Standards Act of BC. Such leave of absence may be extended by an additional six (6) months by mutual agreement upon application by the employee. For Employees outside the province of BC please see Letter of Understanding No.1.
- c) Employees who have completed six (6) months of service shall be paid the maximum maternity benefits allowable under the Employment Insurance guidelines governing SEB-plans (Supplementary Employment Insurance Benefits). Employees will receive full pay for the two (2) week waiting period and Supplementary Employment Insurance Benefit for a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks. If an employee does not apply or qualify for Employment Insurance Benefits, the Employer will not pay monies for the period of time the employee was on maternity leave.
- d) An employee who resumes employment on the expiration of this leave of absence shall be reinstated in all respects by the Employer in the position previously occupied by the employee, or in a comparable position and with all increments to wages and benefits to which the employee would have been entitled had the leave not been taken.

Seniority shall accrue during pregnancy and parental leave.

10.04 Leave for Medical/Dental Appointments

An employee will be allowed up to two (2) hours with pay from their accumulated sick leave bank for medical or dental appointments that cannot be taken on a regularly scheduled day off. The up to two (2) hours will be utilized at the beginning or end of the workday where possible. Leave for medical/dental appointments shall not exceed twelve (12) hours in any calendar year.

10.05 Family Responsibility Leave

- a) In the case of illness/injury of an immediate family member (including same sex partner), the employee shall be entitled to use entitlement from the sick leave bank up to a maximum of two (2) days at any one time for this purpose. Upon request, additional time may be approved, to a maximum of five (5) working days* per calendar year.
- b) In the event of a serious illness or injury to a spouse (including same sex partner), dependent or non-dependent child or parent, the Employer will make a reasonable effort to provide appropriate time off not to exceed five (5) working days at any one time for the employee to make the necessary arrangements for the ongoing care of the ill/injured person. Satisfactory proof of the necessity of the employee's absence must be provided when requested. Such time off shall be

deducted from the accumulated sick leave bank, to a maximum of 5 working days* per calendar year.

*a working day is as per the employee's regular working day.

10.06 Jury Duty

An employee summoned to Jury Duty or subpoenaed as a witness shall be paid wages amounting to the difference between the amount paid to them for jury service or acting as a subpoenaed witness and the amount they would have earned, had they worked on such days. Employees on jury duty shall furnish the Employer with such statements of earnings as the Courts may supply. Employees shall return to work within a reasonable period of time. They shall not be required to report if less than two (2) hours of their normal shift remains to be worked. Total hours on jury duty or as a subpoenaed witness and actual work on the job in the office in one (1) day shall not exceed that of a typical work day for purposes of establishing the basic work day. Any time worked in the office in excess of the combined total of that of a typical work day, shall be considered overtime and paid as such.

ARTICLE 11 — SICK LEAVE, WELFARE PLANS AND PENSION PLAN

11.01 Sick Leave

- a) The Employer will allow one (1) working day per month sick leave with full pay. Such sick leave may be accumulated from month to month and from year to year up to a maximum of twenty-five (25) actual working days. If requested by the Employer, a doctor's certificate must be supplied by the employee in respect of any illness extending beyond three (3) working days.
- b) During periods of lengthy illness or disability, the lost working days that occur within any waiting period as prescribed by a Wage Indemnity Plan shall be paid by the Employer from the employee's accumulative "sick leave". A claim for benefits must be made under the Wage Indemnity Plan for any disability that results in time loss in excess of the prescribed waiting period. "Sick leave" shall not accumulate while an employee is absent because of a disability. At the employee's option, accumulated sick leave may be used to offset the difference between regular salary and wage indemnity payments.

11.02 Medical Plan

The Provincial medical plan shall be made available to all regular employees. The Employer shall pay the full premium cost for the employee's coverage under such a plan. For Employees outside the Province of British Columbia, please see Letter of Understanding #1.

11.03 Weekly Income Benefit

As per the current plan provided by the Union, the Employer shall pay the full premium cost for the employee's coverage under such plan. The Employer will continue to remit premiums for health and welfare benefits as required during periods on wage indemnity.

11.04 Employees shall be granted extended sick leave of absence without pay of up to six (6) months with up to one (1) year of service, and twelve (12) months if over one (1) year of service, beyond the paid sick leave entitlement provided in Article 11.01, during periods of lengthy illness or disability as certified by a medical doctor. During that period of leave beyond the paid sick leave entitlement, seniority will be retained.

11.05 Dental Plan

<u>As per the current plan provided by the Union</u>, a Dental Plan shall be made available to regular employees. Premium costs for coverage shall be paid for by the Employer.

11.06 Extended Health Benefit Plan

As per the current plan provided by the Union, an Extended Health Benefit Plan shall be made available to all regular full-time employees. This plan shall include an eyeglass option of five hundred dollars (\$500.00) every twenty-four (24) months, excluding dependents. Premium costs shall be fully paid by the Employer.

11.07 Pension Plan

- a) Employer contributions to the <u>Union</u> Pension Plan shall be, <u>effective</u> December 31, 2001 ten and one quarter <u>percent</u> (10.25%) of salary
- b) Hours on which payment shall be based are as follows:
 - Annual Vacation
 - Straight time hours worked
 - Statutory Holidays
 - Banked overtime hours if taken in pay
 - Straight time equivalent of overtime hours if not banked
 - Paid Sick Leave
- c) Contributions shall be made for all employees who are not covered by the Employer's existing pension plans.
- d) All employees hired after January 13th, 1982, shall be enrolled in the <u>Union</u> Pension Plan.
- e) The Employer shall make payment to the Trustees of the <u>Union</u> Pension Plan, by a single payment made by the fifteenth (15th) of the month following that which payment covers, to an agency designated for that purpose by <u>the Union</u>.
- f) The Union will send a copy of the annual statement of the Pension Plan to the President & Directing General Chairperson of the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers Transportation District 140, no later than one (1) month from the date of a written request by an Employer party to this Agreement.

11.08 Group Life Insurance

The Employer shall pay the full cost of premiums into the Group Life Insurance Plan to provide two-hundred and fifty percent (250%) of annual earnings to a maximum of one-hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000.00) reducing by fifty percent (50%) at age sixty-five (65) for Life Insurance Coverage and Accidental Death and dismemberment benefits.

11.09 E.I. Premium Rebate

The Employer agrees that five-twelfths (5/12ths) of the E.I. Premium Reduction will be paid back to the employee annually, where applicable.

11.10 Benefit Plan Coverage

Benefit plans shall include coverage for dependents based on Medical Services Plan eligibility rules, if required by a regular full-time employee or eligible regular part-time employees as per clause 5.03.

11.11 Long Term Disability

The Employer shall pay the full cost of premiums to provide a Long Term Disability Plan of seventy percent (70%) of wages to a maximum of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) per month.

An employee who resumes employment following a period of illness or disability shall be reinstated in all respects by the Employer in the position previously occupied by the employee or in a comparable position provided there are no medical limitations on his/her return.

11.12 Employee Assistance Program

a) Purpose

The purpose of the Employee Assistance Program shall be to facilitate treatment for employees through a process of problem identification, assessment, referral and treatment on a confidential basis.

b) Nature of Program

The Employer shall provide an Employee Assistance Program using an independent, neutral third party to provide the service(s). The Employer shall provide such employee and the Union with information on the program.

c) Participation

All employees and their immediate family dependents, as defined by the EAP contract for services shall be eligible for participation in the Employee Assistance Program.

d) Funding

All costs relating to the Employee Assistance Program shall be borne by the Employer.

11.13 Benefit Coverage

The employer will ensure that all Employees will have continuity of their benefit coverage, both mandatory and voluntary, and will receive at minimum the same level of benefit coverage and terms and conditions that they currently receive at no additional cost to the employee. Any waiting period for coverage eligibility period shall adjoin the termination of one set of benefits, so that it is seamless.

ARTICLE 12 – WAGES

12.01 Employees will be classified in accordance with the skills used and shall be paid not less than the minimum weekly or hourly wage rate for such classification in accordance with the table of categories, classifications and salaries and the job descriptions as set forth in Appendix "A", which is attached hereto and made part of this Agreement.

12.02

- a) Any position not covered by Appendix "A", or any new position which may be established during the life of this Agreement, shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. In the event that the Parties are unable to agree as to the classification and rate of pay for the job in question, or in reclassifying any position of any employee which may be in dispute, the matter may be submitted to the arbitration procedure, as defined in Article 19 of this Agreement.
- b) All job classification disputes which are not resolved may be referred to the Joint Advisory Committee prior to the arbitration procedure being brought into effect.

12.03

- a) It is expressly understood and agreed that the wage scales, set out in Appendix "A" will establish the employees wage rate unless otherwise specifically provided for by this Agreement. No clause in this Agreement shall at any time be so construed as to reduce the pay or increase the hours of any employee now on the payroll of the Employer.
- b) If it is the intention of the Employer to hire an employee whose duties fall outside the existing classifications contained in this Agreement, the Employer must notify the Union before hiring.
- 12.04 Upon recruiting new employees, the Employer agrees that previous comparable or directly related experience shall be recognized, and minimum commencing salary shall be at the six (6) month step of the salary range for the employee's classification, provided the employee has six (6) months or more such experience. New employees with less than six (6) months such experience shall be paid at a salary step in accordance with this previous experience.

- 12.05 Where an employee has the necessary qualifications and has proven his or her ability to handle the work, there shall be no discrimination between men and women in the matter of appointment to vacant positions or in salaries for such positions. The Employer recognizes equal pay for equal work.
- 12.06 Any employee working regularly on a combination of classifications shall be paid the wage scale of the highest classification worked within service range.
- 12.07 An employee assigned to a higher job classification or temporarily replacing another employee in such higher classification shall be paid at the higher rate for the period so employed, provided the employee has the qualifications necessary and fulfils the duties of the higher job. This provision shall not apply for brief relief periods of less than one-half (½) day except that if an employee is required to work at a higher classification on a recurring basis, i.e. each day, each week or each month, the higher rate of pay shall apply as provided in Article 12.06 above.
- 12.08 Any employee hired, who reports for work and is not put to work, shall be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) hours' pay.
- 12.09 The Parties agree that the rate of pay specified herein shall be retroactive to the expiry date of the last Agreement.

ARTICLE 13 – SENIORITY

- 13.01 Seniority shall mean length of continuous service with the Employer and its predecessors, as a Union member, except that credit shall be given for service prior to certification of the bargaining unit, provided such service was in a bargaining unit position.
- 13.02
- a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, an employee who leaves the bargaining unit and subsequently returns, will be considered a new employee from the date of re-entering the unit for purposes of seniority credit.
- b) An employee who leaves the bargaining unit and returns within six (6) months shall have his/her service and benefits restored.
- c) Any other seniority reinstatements shall be governed by the <u>Union</u> policy dated March 19, 2007.
- 13.03 An employee laid-off and placed on the recall list under Article 14.05, will be credited with unbroken seniority upon recall within the recall period.
- 13.04 No seniority shall accrue for short terms of temporary work except that temporary employees who attain regular status shall have seniority credited from the last date of entry as an employee of the Employer.
- 13.05 Regular part-time employees will be considered as regular employees and credited with seniority on a pro-rated basis consistent with the period employed.

- 13.06 When on approved leave of absence on Union business under Article 6.06 & 6.07; sick leave and extended sick leave under Article 11.01 and 11.03, an employee will continue to accrue seniority. Employees granted extended leave of absence under Article 10.01 will be credited with accumulative seniority as defined in Article 13.07.
- 13.07 Accumulative seniority is defined as total elapsed time as a member of the Union and an employee in a job classification within the bargaining unit.
- 13.08 Seniority lists will be made available by the Employer at such times as may be required for the administration of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 14 – JOB POSTINGS, PROMOTION, LAYOFF AND RECALL

14.01 The Employer shall fill job vacancies from within the office before hiring new employees, providing employees are available with the necessary qualifications to fill the vacant positions.

Each regular vacancy and/or new position shall be posted on the Employer's premises for three (3) working days, with notification of the posting to be sent to the local Union office at the time of the posting. The posting shall outline the job title, group classification, salary range, and closing date. No further applications will be received after the close of the job posting.

Employees who are absent from their place of employment may make a preliminary application for, and in anticipation of, regular vacancies or new positions which may be posted in their absence. All employees applying for the job posting shall be notified, in writing, of receipt of their application and whether they have been successful in receiving the new job.

14.02 Promotions shall be made on the basis of seniority, ability and experience. In the event two (2) or more employees have the same relative ability and experience, the employee with the greatest seniority shall be selected. Minimum salaries paid on promotion shall be at the employee's length of service step with the Employer.

14.03 Layoff

If a reduction of office staff is necessary, the Employer shall meet with the Union Representatives as soon as possible and no reduction of staff shall occur until such a meeting has taken place. Once the Employer has met with the Union the following procedure shall be adopted:

- 1) The employee with the least amount of seniority in any classification, within their province, will be the first laid-off from that job;
 - a) The laid off employee may elect placement rights into any vacancy in her former job classification or into a vacancy of a similar classification for which the employee is qualified within their province; or
 - b) They may displace an employee in the same or lower category with the least seniority in the category, providing they have the qualifications to

satisfactorily perform the job and have great seniority, within their province.

c) Employees who are displaced from their jobs, as a result of such bumpback procedure, shall have the right to the placement provisions as noted in (b) above or to displace employees having less seniority in the same or lower classification, within their province, providing such employees have the necessary qualifications and seniority.

14.04 Notice of Lay-off

All regular employees shall be given in writing the following notice of lay-off or salary in lieu of notice:

- a) Two (2) weeks' notice where the employee has been employed less than three (3) years.
- b) After the completion of a period of employment of three (3) consecutive years, one (1) additional week's notice, and for each subsequent completed year of employment, an additional week's notice up to a maximum of eight (8) weeks' notice.
- c) In the event of office closure, Article 14.04(b) will apply. (This shall not apply to temporary job sites.)
- d) Health and welfare benefits will continue to be paid by the employer during times of notice of lay-off or salary in lieu of notice period. (Articles 11.02, 11.05, 11.06, 11.07, 11.08, & 11.12)

The period of notice shall not coincide with an employee's annual vacation.

14.05 Any regular or regular part-time employee with six (6) months or more of service who is laid-off due to lack of work or redundancy, shall be placed on the recall list for a period of one (1) year. Any employee so affected may choose to terminate their employment at any time during the recall period and receive severance pay in the amount of one (1) week for each year of service to a maximum of twelve (12) weeks.

14.06 Recall

Notice of recall to an employee who has been laid-off shall be made by registered mail to the Union with a copy to the employee. The employee must respond to such notice within ten (10) days of receiving it or possibly lose rights of seniority and recall, however, an employee who is prevented from responding to a recall notice because of illness or other reason beyond the employee's control shall not lose such rights thereby. An employee having to give notice to another Employer shall be deemed as having complied with this ten (10) day period.

14.07 Employees on the recall list shall have first rights to any vacancy in their former job classification or to a similar classification for which the employee is qualified, and the Employer will not hire for or promote to such a classification while an eligible employee is on the recall list.

14.08 Recalled employees shall receive their former salary and any salary increments to which the employee would have become entitled during the period on the recall list. All rights due to seniority under this Agreement shall be unaffected by such a lay-off period.

ARTICLE 15 – GENERAL

- 15.01 Working conditions, wages and benefits at present in force which are not specifically mentioned in this Agreement and are not contrary to its intention, shall continue in full force and effect.
- 15.02 The Employer agrees to keep all office machinery, furniture and fixtures in a normal state of repair and working condition.
- 15.03 No work which is properly or customarily performed by employees within the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement shall be sub-contracted by the Employer to any shop, agency or person outside the bargaining unit. Final production of the above work and all data base updating is acknowledged to be the jurisdiction of the Bargaining Unit employees. The Parties further agree that the bargaining unit may be asked on occasion to perform work on behalf of the affiliated Local Lodges, but such work shall not constitute past practice.
- 15.04 The Employer will be responsible for all expenses for employees who are requested to attend functions on behalf of the Employer (receipts for expenses shall be provided at the request of the Employer).
- 15.05 The Union shall prepare and print the Collective Agreement.
- 15.06 Tuition Fees

The Employer agrees to pay tuition fees for continuing education courses as follows:

- a) Employer initiated 100% of course fees upon successful completion of course.
- b) Employee initiated 50% of course fees upon successful completion.

Courses must be employment-related and approved, in writing, by the Employer in advance.

The Employer and the Union agree that the training and development of employees is important to the continued success of the organization. Training and development may include specific course training and different job assignments.

15.07 The Employer shall provide a secure workplace and shall take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of employees in, and in the vicinity of, the workplace. By mutual agreement such precautions shall include, but not be limited to, one or more of the following: transportation; ensuring the presence of at least one other person on the premises for mutual protection; a "panic button" in the workplace with which to summon assistance, in the event that protective backup may be out of visual contact; and

personal alarm devices, where indicated in one-person sites, to provide security to and from the building.

- 15.08 An employee appointed to a government Board or Agency, such as the Board of Referees of the Employment Insurance Commission, shall be granted leave without pay to perform the functions on the Board or Agency. The employee may however use a vacation day or a day off from any other entitlement, such as banked overtime. This request shall not be reasonably denied.
- 15.09 Upon request an employee shall be entitled to review and receive a copy of his/her personnel file annually and in the event of a grievance. Upon written authorization of the employee, a Union representative shall be entitled to read and review an employee's personnel file. Upon request, the Union Representative shall be given copies of all disciplinary documents. Disciplinary action shall be removed from an employee's file after 12 months for verbal or written warnings, and after 24 months for a suspension provided the employee has been discipline free for the respective 12 or 24-month period.

An employee shall have the right to have the Steward(s) or <u>Union</u> Representative of the Union present at any discussions with the Employer that the employee believes may be the basis of disciplinary action. Where the Employer intends to meet with an employee for disciplinary purposes, or impose discipline, they shall notify the employee, Steward and/or <u>Union</u> Representative.

15.10 Joint Labour Management Committee

The Employer and the Union shall form a Joint Labour Management Committee (JLMC) which shall meet a minimum of once per year, for the purpose of discussing and making recommendations to the Parties on issues relating to the workplace that affect the Parties or any employee bound by this agreement. Any time loss will be borne by the respective parties. If no issues are on the table, the meeting can be forgiven by mutual agreement.

The Purpose of the JLMC is to promote the cooperative resolution of workplace issues as well as other related matters that may be referred to it by the Parties.

ARTICLE 16 – DISCHARGE AND TERMINATION

- 16.01 It is hereby agreed that the Employer has the right to discipline or discharge for just cause and notice or pay in lieu of notice may be forfeited in the event of such discharge, at the Employer's option. The Employer will provide the employee and the Union with a statement, in writing, at the time of the discipline or discharge clearly establishing the reason for such discipline or discharge. A designated representative of the Union must be present at all disciplinary and/or discharge meetings. Attendance at such meetings will be without loss of pay.
- 16.02 If an employee resigns without giving two (2) weeks' written notice, such employee shall forfeit all welfare plan benefits.
- 16.03 If upon joint investigation by the Union and the Employer, or by decision of the Board of Arbitration appointed pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, it shall be found that an employee has been unjustly discharged, such employee shall be, subject to the award of

the said Board or pursuant to the mutual findings of the Union and the Employer, reinstated to his former position without any loss of seniority or rank or benefits, and shall be compensated by the Employer for all time lost retroactive to the date of discharge.

16.04 An employee whose employment is terminated by the Employer, as set forth in Article 16.01 above, shall be paid all vacation credits and salary due upon such termination of employment.

ARTICLE 17 – TECHNOLOGICAL OR PROCEDURAL CHANGES AND SEVERANCE PAY

17.01 Definition, Notice, Disclosure and Consultation

- a) Wherever possible, the Employer shall provide the Union with up to six (6) months' written notice of intention to introduce automated equipment and/or procedural change.
- b) The Employer agrees to disclose full details of the planned technological and/or procedural changes, which may cause any change to an employee's normal duties or place of employment.
- c) The Employer and the Union shall enter into meaningful consultation regarding such technological and/or procedural changes prior to implementation.

17.02 Retraining in Case of Technological Change

The Employer agrees that Employees affected by the introduction of any technological change or affected by technological redundancies, shall be entitled, based on ability and seniority, in that order, to retraining provided by the Employer. Such re-training will be provided by the Employer without loss of pay, to the affected Employee.

Such training shall be offered in accordance with the job selection criteria referred to in Article 14.

- 17.03 In cases where the re-training of employees is not practical, or where other positions with the Employer are not available, the employee(s) shall elect for termination of employment or shall elect to be placed on the recall list. An employee on recall under this Article, shall receive all the benefits he/she had accrued during employment at the end of the recall period as set out in Article 14.05 or at such earlier time as he/she may elect to terminate.
- 17.04 A specified extension of the recall period, where recall is applied under Article 17.03 above, may be mutually agreed by the employee and the Employer, subject to written approval by the Union.

17.05 Severance Pay

Employees whose services are terminated because of automation, changes in procedures, mergers or suspension of business shall receive severance pay. The amount of such severance pay shall be two (2) weeks per year of service to a maximum of twenty-four (24) weeks total severance payable. Severance pay shall be payable to an employee immediately upon termination.

17.06 Off Premises Equipment

The Employer agrees that no computer equipment shall be placed in an employee's residence.

ARTICLE 18 – GRIEVANCES

18.01 Preamble

- a) All grievances or disputes resulting from the operation of the Agreement or arising under specific clauses thereof, or in any way affecting relations between the Employer and the employees covered thereby shall be handled in the following manner. A grievance filed by an employee shall commence with Step 1. A grievance filed by the Union will be called a dispute and commence with Step 3. Grievances of a general nature may be initiated by the Union.
- b) Timelines outlined in this article may be extended by mutual agreement between the Parties.
- d) A designated representative of the Union must be present at all steps of the grievance procedure. Attendance at such meetings, and reasonable time spent investigating the grievance or dispute will be without loss of pay. Any employee requiring time, shall attain permission from the employer and such permission will not be unreasonably withheld.

18.02 Complaints

Should an employee have a complaint, the employee and/or a Union representative shall discuss the complaint with the appropriate immediate supervisor or manager. A Union representative may discuss the complaint with other management personnel and/or employees as he or she may deem appropriate in the circumstances. Failing a resolution of an employee's complaint, the matter may be initiated and processed as a grievance under this Article.

18.03 Step 1:

a) Notification of grievance:

The grievance must be filed, in writing, within twenty-five (25) working days after the incident leading to the grievance occurs, unless circumstances beyond the control of the aggrieved employee, or in the nature of the grievance prevents such filing. The nature of the disagreement and the remedy sought will be sent to the Employer in writing.

b) Step 1 meeting and response:

The step 1 meeting will take place no later than twenty (20) working days after the Employer has received notification. The designated representatives of the Union and Employer will attend. The grievor may or may not be present as he or she elects.

The Employer's response will be sent to the Union, in writing, no later than ten (10) working days after the Step 1 meeting.

Step 2:

If the grievance is resolved by the step 1 process, it shall be considered closed. However, if resolution is not reached, the matter may then be referred to Arbitration as outlined in Article 19 of this agreement.

Step 3:

If the Union files a grievance as outlined in Article 18.01, it shall be referred to as "Step 3" and will follow the procedures and time lines for Steps 1 and 2 above.

ARTICLE 19 – SINGLE ARBITRATOR

If a grievance or dispute is not settled pursuant to Article 18, it may then be referred to a Single Arbitrator as follows:

- 1. The Party desiring arbitration under this Article will notify the other Party, in writing, in accordance with the provisions of Article 18, Step 3.
- 2. The Parties to the dispute will thereupon meet to decide upon an Arbitrator. Failing agreement on this within ten (10) days of such notice or in the event one of the Parties declines the procedure, notice of Arbitration as provided in Article 19 may be given by either Party.
- 3. Upon agreed appointment of an Arbitrator, the Arbitrator shall hear the Parties, settle the terms of question to be arbitrated and make his award within fifteen (15) days of the appointment or within such extended period as may be mutually agreed to by the Parties to the dispute.
 - The Arbitrator shall deliver his award, in writing, to each of the Parties and this award shall be final and binding upon each of the Parties and shall be carried out forthwith.
- 4. Each Party shall pay their own costs and expenses of the Arbitration and one-half (½) the remuneration and disbursements or expenses of the Arbitrator.

ARTICLE 20 – SEXUAL AND/OR PERSONAL HARASSMENT IN THE WORKPLACE

- 20.01 <u>The Union</u> and the Employer recognizes the right of employees to work in an environment free from sexual and/or personal harassment and shall take such actions as are necessary respecting an employee engaging in sexual harassment in the workplace.
- 20.02 Sexual harassment means engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct of a sexual nature that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome and shall include, but not be limited to:
 - (i) sexual solicitation or advance or inappropriate touching and sexual assault;
 - (ii) a reprisal, or threat of reprisal, which might reasonably be perceived as placing a condition of a sexual nature on employment by a person in authority after such sexual solicitation or advance or inappropriate touching is rejected.
- 20.03 Personal harassment means any conduct, comment, gesture or contact based on any of the prohibited grounds of discrimination under the Canadian Human Rights Act (race, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion, age, sex, marital or family status, and disability) that is likely to cause offence or humiliation to any person.
 - (i) An employee who wishes to pursue a concern arising from an alleged sexual and/or personal harassment may submit a complaint, in writing, within thirty (30) days of the latest alleged occurrence through the Union directly to the Executive of the Employer. Complaints of this nature shall be treated in strict confidence by both the Union and the Employer. An attempt to resolve the complaint by informing the alleged harasser and the complainant on a course of future conduct shall be made at this stage and/or proceed to Article 21.06. (iii) herein.
 - (ii) An alleged offender shall be given notice of the substance of such a complaint under this clause and shall be given notice of and be entitled to attend, participate in, and be represented at any hearing under this clause.
 - (iii) An employee who wishes to pursue a concern arising from an alleged sexual and/or personal harassment may submit a grievance directly to Step 2 of the grievance procedure. Incidents occurring prior to the twenty-five (25) working days identified as time limits for the filing of a grievance and incidents occurring subsequent to the filing of the grievance may be used as evidence to support the harassment allegation being grieved.
 - (iv) Where the complaint is determined to be of a frivolous, vindictive or vexatious nature, the Employer may take appropriate action. Such action shall only be for just cause and may be grieved pursuant to Article 18.
 - (v) Pending determination of the complaint, the Employer may take interim measures to separate the employees concerned if deemed necessary.

ARTICLE 21 – HEALTH AND SAFETY

21.01 Eye Examinations and VDT Eyewear

Employees who are required to work with Visual Display Terminals on a regular basis shall be entitled to the following:

- a) Eye examination by an Ophthalmologist/Optometrist of the employee's choice once per year.
- b) The Employer shall grant leave of absence with pay not to exceed two (2) hours for employees to have such tests and the Employer shall assume the costs of such tests where such costs are not covered by insurance.
- c) Employees who are far-sighted, or who wear bi-focals, may require a different pair of glasses/contact lenses with a focal point of 18 to 24 inches for working at a VDT. The cost of these should also be covered by the Employer up to a maximum of \$200 every two years.

21.02 Office Equipment

The Employer will attempt to supply reasonable and adequate office equipment (to include work stations) and will consult with the <u>Union</u> employees prior to purchasing and introducing new or upgraded equipment for the office.

It shall be the Employer's responsibility to ensure that all office equipment meets all WCB and Federal Government safety standards.

The Employer shall provide instruction in the safe and proper usage of all office equipment.

The Employer shall ensure that employees operating VDTs continuously shall have a ten (10) minute change of duty in each hour of continuous operation.

21.03

- a) The Parties agree that there is a shared interest in minimizing and/or eliminating musculoskeletal strain injuries or illnesses that are work related.
- b) The Parties agree that any employee who feels they are at risk for a work-related repetitive strain injury may request the workplace health and safety committee, and shall receive, an ergonomic assessment of his/her workstation, as per the applicable Provincial Health and Safety regulations.
- c) <u>Should modifications be required as a result of an assessment in (b) above, the Employer will undertake such modifications immediately.</u>

ARTICLE 22 – JOB SHARE

22.01 Definition

Job share is defined as dividing all the functions of one regular position between two regular employees, each of whom works part-time in a manner that provides full-time coverage for the position. A full-time regular position can only be job shared with the approval of the Employer and the Union. The Employer is responsible for communicating the requirements of the job to both employees.

22.02 General

- a) The Parties agree that all terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement that are in force and effect shall apply unless specifically altered herein.
- b) Only regular employees are eligible to participate in job share arrangements unless otherwise mutually agreed by the Parties. This can include a regular employee hired to fill the balance of a job shared position.
- c) A job share employee (other than a temporary employee as mutually agreed in 1(b) above), shall be classified as a regular part-time employee.
- d) Overtime premiums will be paid to each job share partner who works longer than the regular work day hours in a day or the hours in a regular work week. A job share partner may work additional hours for the Employer beyond their normal job share schedule at the appropriate rate for the work and at straight time pay up to the hours of a regular work day or the hours in a regular work week.
- e) All job share employees must meet the qualifications of the position to be job shared.
- f) The position identified for job share must be held by one of the current incumbent employees.
- g) The regular position left vacant when two regular employees job share will be posted in accordance with the provisions of the Collective Agreement, except as outlined in the trial period in <u>22.04</u> below.
- h) Job share arrangements shall be cost neutral (*see Note) to the Employer.
- i) Benefits, vacation and other length of service entitlements, seniority, statutory holidays shall be pro-rated.
- j) Medical and other appointments will be scheduled on a job share employee's normal day off unless it is not possible such as a specialist appointment that cannot be rescheduled.

*NOTE: The Employer understands, with the exception of Article 22.02 (d) above, "Cost Neutral" means that there will be no additional cost in wages, benefits or other Collective

Agreement costs incurred under this Agreement.

22.03 Procedure

- a) Regular employees wanting to job share may submit a proposal to their Employer for a job share arrangement. In making a submission it is important that both employees realize they are entering a partnership. Their proposal must provide information on the qualifications and experience of each proposed partner and give details on how the arrangement will ensure the work is efficiently and effectively completed.
- b) The Employer may also propose a job share arrangement, subject to agreement of the affected employees and Union.
- c) Details which must be considered in the submission include:
 - i) Which position will be job shared.
 - ii) Which functions within that job will be shared and which functions will be performed by only one partner.
 - How load priorities will be determined on an on-going basis, and how these priorities will be communicated between partners to ensure nothing is missed.
 - iv) Preferred work schedule of each partner and preferred start date.
 - v) Other information required by the Employer.
- d) For each job share arrangement, there must be a written understanding signed by each job share partner, the Employer and the Union.
- e) Subject to operational efficiency, requests for job share shall not be unreasonably declined by the Employer.

22.04 Trial Period

- a) In order to allow the parties a reasonable time to test the suitability of the individual job share arrangement, a six (6) consecutive calendar month trial period will be in effect at the beginning of each job share arrangement. Any temporary vacancy that is created may be filled without posting for the six (6) month trial period. For such backfill vacancies, preference will be given to the senior, qualified employee within the same work group where the vacancy exists, except where there are qualified employees on the recall list.
- b) During the trial period, the Employer, the Union or either job share partner may terminate the job share with a minimum of thirty (30) days written notice.
- c) In the event that the job share is terminated during the trial period, both employees will revert back to their former regular positions and status in all

respects. If there is no previous position for an employee to return, they shall be laid off and placed on the recall list.

22.05 Job Share Conditions

- a) Full-time regular employees who enter a job share arrangement shall change their status to regular part-time and be paid the rate for the job shared position. In the case of a demotion, there will be no blue circle or red circle salary treatment as a direct result of job share.
- b) A job share arrangement will not invoke the provisions of Article 17 (Technological, Procedural Change).

22.06 Job Share Partner Absence

- a) Where an employee in a job share arrangement is temporarily absent from work for any reason, the Employer shall first offer the work to the remaining partner in the job share. In such instances, the extra hours worked, up to a maximum of the hours of a regular day and the hours of a regular work week, will be paid at straight time rates.
- b) The remaining partner will retain their status as a Regular part-time employee for the duration of the partner's absence. If the remaining partner declines to accept the extra hours the Employer may fill the vacancy with a Temporary employee.

22.07 Filling a Job Share Vacancy

In the event one of the partners leaves the job share and where the parties agree the job share should continue, the vacancy will be dealt with as follows:

- a) If no suitable partner can be found, the remaining partner will have the option of filling the position on a full-time basis.
- b) If the remaining partner declines the option, they will be placed directly onto the recall list and the full-time position will be posted.

22.08 Termination of a Job Share Arrangement

- a) Individual job share arrangements may be terminated by the Employer with a minimum of sixty (60) days' notice.
- b) If the Employer terminates the job share arrangement, the job share partners will revert back to their previous positions and conditions of employment, and any other employee displaced as a result will have access to the provisions of Article 14.
- c) If one partner voluntarily leaves, the remaining partner will have the option of filling the vacant portion of the position without posting. If the remaining partner declines the option of filling the full-time position they will be placed directly onto the recall list and the full-time position will be posted.

d) If both job share partners agree to terminate the job share arrangement, the job share partners will revert to their previous positions and conditions of employment, and any other employee displaced as a result will be placed directly on the recall list without access to the provisions of Article 14.

ARTICLE 23 – DURATION

23.01 Duration

This Agreement shall be binding and remain in full force for the period from January 1st, 2017 to and including December 31st, 2019.

23.02 Notice to Bargain

Either Party may at any time within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiry date of this Agreement, by written notice, require the other Party to commence collective bargaining.

23.03 Agreement to Continue in Force

Both Parties shall comply fully with the terms of this Agreement during the period of collective bargaining and until a new or revised Agreement is signed by the Parties, without prejudicing the position of the new or revised Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties shall have the right to effect a legal strike or legal lockout, as the case may be.

23.04 Exclusion of Operation: Section 50(2) L.R.C.

The Parties agree to exclude the operation of Section 50(2) of the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia, or any subsequent equivalent legislative provisions.

executive in their names by their duly authorize	1 0
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER Party of the First Part:	SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part:
Original signed by	Original signed by
Fred Hospes President & Directing General Chairperson IAMAW District Lodge 140	Noel Gulbransen Union Representative MoveUP

E&OE NG:sh usw2009

APPENDIX "A"

CATEGORIES, CLASSIFICATIONS AND SALARIES

Effective 01 January 2014

CATEGORY 1

Office Assistant

CATEGORY 2

Administrative Assistant 1

CATEGORY 3

Administrative Assistant 2

Regular part-time employees shall be subject to the regular employee wage progression scale.

APPENDIX "A"

CATEGORIES, CLASSIFICATIONS AND SALARIES

Effective DATE: January 1, 2017					<u>1.5</u> %	
	START	6 MTH	12 MTH	18 MTH	24 MTH	30 МТН
CATEGORY 1:						
Hourly	<u>\$26.00</u>	\$27.00	\$28.00	\$29.97	<u>\$30.51</u>	<u>\$31.02</u>
Casual/Temporary	<u>\$26.00</u>					
CATEGORY 2:						
Hourly	<u>\$27.50</u>	<u>\$28.50</u>	<u>\$29.50</u>	<u>\$31.30</u>	<u>\$31.84</u>	<u>\$32.35</u>
Casual/Temporary	<u>\$27.50</u>					
CATEGORY 3:						
Hourly	\$29.00	\$30.00	<u>\$31.00</u>	<u>\$32.61</u>	<u>\$33.15</u>	<u>\$33.67</u>
Casual/Temporary	\$29.00					

Effective DATE: January 1, 201 <u>8</u>					<u>2%</u>	
	START	6 MTH	12 MTH	18 MTH	24 MTH	зо МТН
CATEGORY 1:						
Hourly	<u>\$26.52</u>	<u>\$27.54</u>	<u>\$28.56</u>	<u>\$30.57</u>	<u>\$31.12</u>	<u>\$31.64</u>
Casual/Temporary	<u>\$26.52</u>					
CATEGORY 2:						
Hourly	<u>\$28.05</u>	\$29.07	\$30.09	<u>\$31.93</u>	<u>\$32.48</u>	<u>\$33.00</u>
G1/T	+ 0					
Casual/Temporary	\$28.05					
CATEGORY 3:						
Hourly	<u>\$29.58</u>	\$30.60	<u>\$31.62</u>	<u>\$33.26</u>	<u>\$33.81</u>	<u>\$34.34</u>
Casual/Temporary	<u>\$29.58</u>					

Effective DATE: January 1, 2019					<u>2%</u>	
	START	6 MTH	12 MTH	18 MTH	24 MTH	30 MTH
CATEGORY 1:						
Hourly	\$27.05	\$28.09	\$29.13	<u>\$31.18</u>	\$31.74	\$32.27
Casual/Temporary	\$27.05					
CATEGORY 2:						
Hourly	<u>\$28.61</u>	<u>\$29.65</u>	<u>\$30.69</u>	<u>\$32.57</u>	<u>\$33.13</u>	<u>\$33.66</u>
Cognel/Town onews	φ-0.6.					
Casual/Temporary	<u>\$28.61</u>					
CATEGORY 3:						
Hourly	\$30.17	<u>\$31.21</u>	<u>\$32.25</u>	\$33.92	\$34.49	\$35.03
Casual/Temporary	\$30.17					

APPENDIX "B"

JOB DESCRIPTIONS

CATEGORY 1 - Office Assistant

Employees in this category are typically hired as casual employees to provide assistance from time to time for a specified purpose as outlined below. They work under direct supervision.

BASIC PURPOSE

To assist with basic clerical support functions on an as and when needed basis.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

1. Performs a variety of basic clerical and support functions including answering telephones, stuffing envelopes, assisting with mail-outs, filing, and data entry as needed.

Note: Employees in this category are expected to perform data entry functions and may use spreadsheets for the data entry.

EQUIPMENT USED

Photocopier, postage machine, folder, fax, personal or network computer, phone-switchboard, printer, shredder, adding machine/calculator, typewriter, spiral binding machine.

QUALIFICATIONS

- Grade 10 or six (6) months office experience.
- Word Processing

CATEGORY 2 - Administrative Assistant 1

Employees in this category perform a variety of office functions with or without supervision. Employees may perform duties ranging from a basic to intermediate level in the use of office applications.

BASIC PURPOSE

To provide intermediate clerical and/or administrative support to the office.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

- 1. Lays out and types from rough draft or verbal instructions a variety of material including correspondence, reports, minutes of meetings and forms.
- 2. Performs various clerical duties including data entry, takes dictation, transcribes and operates typewriter/word processing machines.
- 3. Performs a variety of accounting functions including utilizing basic and intermediate office applications to produce statistical, mathematical or financial applications; basic bookkeeping, prepares invoices, receives dues and incoming cash, and maintains membership records, ensures member is in good standing and maintains dispatch records.

EQUIPMENT USED

Photocopier, postage machine, folder, fax, personal or network computer, phone-switchboard, printer, shredder, adding machine/calculator, typewriter, spiral binding machine.

QUALIFICATIONS

- Grade 12 or equivalent and dependent on the position and the needs of the office.
- 6-12 months office experience and completion of a recognized secretarial program or successful completion of basic bookkeeping, or office systems, or word processing or formal data control training and one-year experience related to any of the programs noted above.

CATEGORY 3 - Administrative Assistant 2

Employees in this category perform at an advanced level in the use of office applications. Employees work independently, referring unusual problems/concerns to supervisor. May be required to act as a Confidential Secretary to one or more persons.

BASIC PURPOSE

Provides a variety of high level administrative, general clerical, accounting/bookkeeping, and basic technical office systems support functions.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

- 1. Operates a personal computer (PC) to input, update, edit or analyze research information; prepares from draft a variety of reports, submissions, grievances, contract proposals, MOA's, Collective Agreements, media releases etc., for signature as appropriate. May perform advanced computer related functions to create and design elementary databases to process a variety of forms, communications, reports, statistics, and statements. This can include indexing, macros and mail merge, spreadsheets and tables and creates queries to extrapolate/manipulate data; also graphics, basic desktop publishing and clipart methods for in-house or external printing.
- 2. Produces financial information/reports on membership dues, accounts payables/receivables, performs bookkeeping functions, monthly reconciliations, year-end financial statements; prepares accounting statements and performs some electronic banking.
- 3. Ensures adequate stock of office stationary and supplies including maintaining inventory of same.
- 4. Assist in the planning of events, general meetings, conferences, annual banquets; this may include arranging for meals, reserving meeting rooms, arranging for travel and accommodation which may include negotiating rates.

EQUIPMENT USED

Photocopier, postage machine, folder, fax, personal or network computer, phone-switchboard, printer, shredder, adding machine/calculator, typewriter, spiral binding machine.

QUALIFICATIONS

Grade 12 or equivalent and three (3) years related experience or, depending on the position:

- successful completion of a recognized secretarial program and two (2) years related experience.
- successful completion of bookkeeping courses and two (2) years related experience.
- successful completion of office systems program and two (2) years related experience.
- successful completion of word processing courses and two (2) years related experience.

Employees employed outside British Columbia

IAMAW TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT LODGE 140

BETWEEN:

AND: <u>MoveUP</u> <u>CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROF</u>	ESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION, LOCAL 378
Aerospace Workers Transportation District Lod Columbia, will be covered by any and/or all of the or applicable legislation and/or Statutes as a	the International Association of Machinists and lge 140 employed outside the province of British he applicable Provincial or Federal Labour Codes relates to the province they are employed in, ticle 1, Article 8, Article 10 and Article 11 of the and MoveUP collective agreement.
Signed at	, BC, this day of
, 201 <u>8</u> .	
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER Party of the First Part;	SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part;
Original signed by	Original signed by
Fred Hospes President & Directing General Chairperson IAMAW District Lodge 140	Noel Gulbransen Union Representative MoveUP

Current Employee Wage Retention

	Current Employe	e wage Ketention
BETWEEN:	STRICT LODGE 140	
AND:	MoveUP (CANADIAN OFFICE AND PRO	FESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION, LOCAL 378)
a) This I	Letter of Understanding will apply t	to Michelle Bujold.
time t which	that the category 3 rate of pay in t	in their current 2014 wage rate, until the point in the collective agreement surpasses this rate. At ceive the higher rate of pay as per the Category 3 nt.
Signed at_		, BC, this day of
	, 201 <u>8</u> .	
SIGNED ON Party of the F	BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER First Part:	SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part:
Original sig	ned by	Original signed by
Chairpersor	Directing General	Noel Gulbransen Union Representative MoveUP

Article 7 – Hours of Work and Overtime

BETWEEN: IAMAW TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT LODGE 140
--

AND: <u>MoveUP</u>

(CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION, LOCAL 378)

The Parties agree that notwithstanding Article 7.03, the Employer can, after giving thirty (30) days' notice to the Union and the employees, implement a seven and one-half (7 ½) hour regular work day and a thirty-seven and one-half (37 ½) hour regular work week.

Thereafter the Collective Agreement will reflect as follows:

Article 7 – Hours of Work and Overtime

7.01 Regular Work Day

A regular work day shall consist of seven and one-half $(7\frac{1}{2})$ hours between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.

7.02 Regular Work Week

IAMAW District Lodge 140

A regular work week shall consist of thirty-seven and one-half (37½) hours worked between 7:00 a.m. Monday and 5:00 p.m. Friday.

If after the original change the Employer wish to change those hours of work per week, the Employer will provide a minimum of 30 days' notice to the Union and the Parties will meet to discuss prior to any change taking place.

Signed at	, BC, this day of
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER Party of the First Part:	SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part:
Original signed by	Original signed by
Fred Hospes President & Directing General Chairperson	Noel Gulbransen Union Representative MoveUP

December Holiday Season Office Closure

DETMIERI.	TAMASAI TO ANIODODTAT	ION DISTRICT LODGE 4 40
BETWEEN:	IAMAW IKANSPORTAT	ION DISTRICT LODGE 140
AND:	MoveUP (CANADIAN OFFICE A LOCAL 378)	AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION,
This Letter of Unders	tanding is to address the D	December Holiday Season Office Closure.
		tification, and at the Employer's discretion, the closure during the end of December Holiday
	es may, at their discretion, or take time without pay fo	use their annual vacation, or 2% vacation bonus or this purpose.
Signed at		, BC, this day of
	, 201 <u>8</u> .	
SIGNED ON BEHALI Party of the First Part	F OF THE EMPLOYER ;	SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part;
Original signed by		Original signed by
Fred Hospes President & Directin Chairperson IAMAW District Loc	_	Noel Gulbransen Union Representative MoveUP

Student Employees

BETWEEN: IAMAW TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT LODGE 140

AND: MoveUP

(CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION, LOCAL 378)

Student Employee:

Any person who is classified as a Student must be registered full-time and be attending an educational institution. Full-time enrolment for the purpose of this letter of understanding is considered to be an average of three (3) courses per semester or full time in any technical trade school. Student status will be reviewed each spring.

Student employees will be limited to working during school breaks (spring break, Easter, the summer period, and Christmas). They will be eligible for four percent (4%) vacation pay; they will also be eligible for Statutory Holidays when applicable.

They shall not displace or replace any member of the Bargaining Unit nor shall they be employed when any Member of the Bargaining Unit is on layoff.

Duties and Responsibilities:

- 1. Scan documents to file on the server.
- 2. Create folders and file clean up.
- 3. Weekly Activity and Expense Statements/Reports.
- 4. Answer telephones and pick up faxes in the absence of a regular employee.

Students will be deducted Union dues as per the Collective Agreement and will receive the Student pay rate as outlined below:

Upon ratification: \$16.00 per hour.				
Signed at	, BC, this day of			
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER Party of the First Part;	SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part;			
Original signed by	Original signed by			
Fred Hospes President & Directing General Chairperson IAMAW District Lodge 140	Noel Gulbransen Union Representative MoveUP			

Lump Sum Payment

		<u> Lump s</u>	um r uymeme				
BETWEEN:	ETWEEN: IAMAW TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT LODGE 140						
AND:	MoveUP (CANADIAN OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES UNION, LOCAL 378)						
Further to LC such, the Em below:	OU #2, the only reployer agrees to p	maining employe oay Michelle Bujo	ee affected by the bld the followin	nis letter is g lump su	s Michelle Bujold. As ams per the schedule		
<u>Year One</u>		\$2,000.00	0.00		To be paid in the second pay period following the ratification of a collective agreement.		
<u>Year Two</u>		\$1,500.00		To be paid period fol	d in the second pay llowing the on of a collective		
<u>Year Three</u>		\$1,000.00		To be pai	d in the second pay January 2019.		
Signed at_			, BC,	this	day of		
		2018.					
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER Party of the First Part;		SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION Party of the Second Part;					
Original signed by		Original signed by					
Fred Hospes President & Directing General Chairperson IAMAW District Lodge 140		Noel Gulbransen Union Representative MoveUP					

E&OE NG:sh usw2009